1949

# Jakes D. Laws v. Geneva Steel Company and The Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 26th day of July, 1946, the appellant suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with the Geneva Steel Company at Draper-ton, Utah, when he fell and bumped his back on a corner of a tie (transcript of first hearing page 6)

It was admitted that the Geneva Steel Company was at the time of the accident on July 26, 1946, a self in-surer, with three or more employees and under the provi-

State of the Workmen's Compensation Act. It was also admitted that the applicant was injured in an accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with the Geneva Steel Company on the 26th day of July, 1946. The appellant went to the local hospital at Dragerton in the evening of the same day and an examination was made by Dr/Anderson and later by Dr. Columbo. Upon examination, Dr. Columbo diagnosed the case as bruised back and neck and left shoulder and filed his report with the Industrial Commission. The appellant was given treatment at the company local hospital to relieve the pain and was released for work on the 3rd day of September, 1946. Mr. Laws returned to work and continued on the job for three days when he was compelled to stay at home because of his pain and inability to work (transcript of first hearing page 7). On the 17th day of September, 1946, an application was filed with the Industrial Commission for the purpose of determining the nature and the extent of the appellant's injuries. At this time an examination of the appellant was made by Dr. Okelberry and a copy of this report was filed with the Commission and a copy furnished to Dr. Linden, head of the medical staff of the defendant, Geneva Steel Company. The hearing on the application was duly set for the 15th day of October, 1946. On the 10th day of

October, 1946, Dr. Linden requested the appellant to report to the St. Marks Hospital and he was there examined by Dr. Martin C. Linden, and Dr. Linden then concluded the appellant had a spondylolisthesis and had received some injury (transcript of first hearing page 47) and operated the Coccyx (transcript of first hearing page 47) and the appellant was again released for work on the 8th day of November, 1946 by Dr. Martin C. Linden, but the appellant was not able to immediately return to work, but after a period of one week he returned to work, but was unable to continue (transcript of first hearing page 9).

When the appellant's application was still pending the Industrial Commission called the appellant to appear before the Advisory Board for an examination on March 14, 1947, and at the conclusion of the examination the Board determined that his condition had become fixed on the 22nd day of December, 1946, and rated his permanent loss of bodily function as 15 per cent. This recommendation of the Advisory Board was rejected by the appellant and request was made that his application for a formal hearing on the issue be set for hearing.

At the hearing on October 22, 1947, it was stipulated by counsel that Mr. Laws received a compensable injury on the 26th day of July, 1946 (transcript of first

hearing page 43). Mr. Laws testified that he had worked continuously throughout his life at hard manual labor without any trouble to his back of any kind (transcript of first hearing page 11). The company examined Mr. Laws prior to his employment, but rated him unemployable for heavy work because of Pharyngitis and Sinusitis, but not because of any physical condition of his back (transcript of first hearing page 45).

Dr. Okelberry testified that he had examined Mr. Laws on the 13th day of September, 1946, and that it was his opinion at that time that Mr. Laws was disabled because of an injury received in an accident which occurred on July 26, 1946. That the injuries received by Mr. Laws were a contusion of the Dorsal region of the spine and to the Sacral Coccygeal junction with dislocation of the coccyx and a low back sprain with an aggravation of a pre-existing spondylolisthesis. That there was also some evidence of a partial rupture of the inter-vertebral disc. That there had been some degree of sprain at the base of the neck or at the cervical dorsal junction, That the pre-existing spondylolisthesis had been aggravated by the injury. That a culmination of the pre-existing congenital defect plus the injury resulted in a very persistent disability and in his opinion Mr. Laws would



Dr. Lindem made a physical examination was performed to stabilize the back (transcript of first hearing pages 17-18-19-20)

Dr. Lindem refused to recognize that any disability existed and summarized his findings in these words: The whole observation has been that myself and my colleagues is that Mr. Laws is suffering from something hysterical or he is a plain malingerer (transcript of first hearing page 49).

That Mr. Laws was not able to work when he was released for work by Dr. Lindem on September 3, 1946, but continued to suffer pain and was continually unable to work from the date of his injury on July 26, 1946 to the date of the hearing on October 22nd, 1946 (transcript of first hearing pages 11 and 22).

The Commission rendered its decision in this matter on the 24th day of December, 1946, and determined that the appellant was not in need of further medical treatment and that his condition had become fixed on the 22nd day of December, 1946 and that he had suffered a permanent loss of bodily function of fifteen per cent.

After this decision was rendered by the Commission, and within the time allowed by law in which to file a petition for a rehearing, the appellant went to the L.D.S. Hospital and on the 19th day of January, 1948 Mr. Laws

spinal fusion on the appellant's back. That on the 22nd day of January, 1948, and within the time allowed by law the appellant filed with the Industrial Commission a petition for a rehearing of the matter on the merits on the grounds of the newly discovered evidence made available by the operation, and this petition was duly granted and the matter came on regularly for hearing on the 7th day of June, 1948. At the rehearing of the matter the evidence was without dispute that the appellant had had a pre-existing congenital defect of the back which had been aggravated by the injury of July 26, 1946 and that this pre-existing congenital defect had prevented the injury of July 26, 1946 from recovering in the normal manner and that a spinal fusion was the proper therapeutics and that he was in fact totally disabled for work during the whole period from July 26, 1946 to the date of his spinal fusion operation on the 19th day of January, 1948 (transcript of rehearing pages 11-22).

In the decision of the Industrial Commission on the rehearing the Commission found:

"That there had been no change in the physical condition of the appellant since the award made the applicant on December 24th, 1947 and therefore conclude that the award made to the applicant on December 24, 1947 was considered adequate to cover the total disability suffered by the applicant as a result of his injuries on July 26, 1946 as

well as the permanent partial disability which the applicant had on December 24, 1946 as a result of such injuries."

ERRORS ON WHICH THE APPELLANT RELIES FOR  
ANNULING THE AWARD OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

ERROR NUMBER ONE

The refusal of the Industrial Commission to render a decision on the rehearing modifying its previous decision of December 24, 1947 on the grounds that the applicant had shown no change in his physical condition since the date of the original decision of December 24, 1946 was contra to law and was error.

ERROR NUMBER TWO

The Commission committed error in not awarding the applicant further compensation from the 26th day of December, 1946 to the date of the rehearing.

ERROR NUMBER THREE

The Commission committed error in not awarding the appellant the medical and hospital expenses incurred incidental to the operation of January 19, 1948.

ERROR NUMBER FOUR

The Commission committed error in not continuing the payment of compensation to the appellant from the date of the rehearing until such time as the Commission should determine in further proceedings the exact date the appellant's condition became fixed and at that time awarding to

the appellant such compensation for his partial permanent loss of bodily function as he was then entitled.

ARGUMENT ON ERROR NUMBER ONE  
THE REFUSAL OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION TO  
RENDER A DECISION ON THE REHEARING MODIFYING  
ITS PREVIOUS DECISION OF DECEMBER 24TH, 1947  
ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE APPLICANT HAD SHOWN  
NO CHANGE IN HIS PHYSICAL CONDITION SINCE  
THE DECISION OF DECEMBER 24TH, 1947 WAS  
CONTRA TO LAW.

The language of the Commission clearly indicates that the Industrial Commission misinterpreted the statute and was of the opinion that in order for the Commission to render a different award than was rendered on the 24th day of December, 1947, it was incumbent upon the applicant to show some change in his condition between the decision of December 24, 1947 and the rehearing on the 9th day of June, 1948. The language of the Commission in its findings is so plain and unequivocal as to preclude any doubt that the Commission was misguided as to the law.

"After hearing the testimony in the case and reviewing the same as set forth in the transcript and other documentary evidence, the Commission finds that there has been no change in the physical condition of the applicant since the award made on December 24, 1947, and therefore concludes that the award made on December 24, 1947 was adequate."

From such language it is perfectly apparent that the Commission assumed that before the applicant was entitled to a different award than the Commission made on December, 24,

1941, the applicant must show some change in his physical condition subsequent to December 24, 1947 and prior to the date of the rehearing. This interpretation of the law taken by the Commission is contra to law and resulted in the Commission disregarding virtually all of the evidence produced at the rehearing.

Section 42-1-76 U.C.A. 1943 provides that any party, including the Commissioner of Finance, to a proceeding before the Industrial Commission may and before he can seek a review in the Supreme Court, shall within thirty days after written notice of its decision, file an application before the Industrial Commission for a rehearing of the matter.

This is the only provision in the Workman's Compensation Act pertaining to a rehearing and it is entirely silent as to what the purpose of such rehearing is or what the duties of the Commission are upon such rehearing, but it is the view of the appellant that the Commission having granted a rehearing upon the merits the nature of the proceeding was that of a new trial and it was the duty of the Commission upon the rehearing to determine the original issues before the Commission upon the basis of all of the evidence then before the Commission the same as if such evidence had been produced at the original hearing and that the appellant was not required to show any change in his physical condition

subsequent to the decision rendered on December 24, 1947 an the rehearing, but was entitled to an award according to the evidence produced at the rehearing.

The generally accepted rule of law is that when the Commission grants a petition for a rehearing upon the writ the proceeding is in the nature of a new trial on the original issues before the Commission and the Commission is bound to consider the evidence submitted at the rehearing and decide the original issues before the Commission on the basis of a review of the evidence then before the Commission. 71 C.J. Workman Compensation, section 116, states the rule thus:

"Under a general application for a rehearing on specific grounds, without limiting the issues raised by the request, the whole subject matter is reopened for further consideration and determination and the issues raised are as broad as those raised in the original application."

) In the case of Western Power Company of California v Industrial Commission, 218 Pac. 1009 at page 1011 the California Court said:

"The petition made a general application for a rehearing on the merits on the ground already mentioned and without in any way limiting the issues raised by such request. Under such application the whole subject matter was reopened for further consideration and determination and the issues thus raised were as broad as those raised on the original application for compensation."





This Court has heretofore very clearly expressed its views on this question in the case of Carter vs Industrial Commission, 279 Pac. 776 and on page 783 this Court said:

"Assuming or refusing jurisdiction to hear and determine presented controversies is not a matter of discretion. If the right to apply for a rehearing exists the question of permitting or allowing the application therefore to be made and filed is not a matter of discretion but when the application or motion is made or filed the granting or refusing a rehearing may be a matter of discretion depending upon the matters alleged or made to appear as grounds for the rehearing or further hearing. In such respect the matter is analogous to a new trial under the Civil Code in a judicial proceeding. If the aggrieved party has the right to file or make a motion for a new trial and timely does so the Court is required to entertain the application and consider the motion, but depending upon what is made to appear the Court is given a sound discretion in determining whether a new trial will or will not be granted. Confessedly the Commission had jurisdiction to entertain and consider the first application made by the employee for a rehearing. The effect of granting the rehearing unless otherwise restricted or limited was to vacate and set aside the prior order of the Commission and try the cause anew."

This language of the Court in the case of Carter vs Industrial Commission is in harmony with the great weight of authority that when a rehearing is once granted and the issues are unrestricted the rehearing is in the nature of a new trial under the Civil Code and that the issues then before the Commission are the original issues presented by

by the authorities but effects justice to both parties.

The Commission in this case having granted a rehearing to the applicant, unrestricted as to the issue, in effect vacated its order of December 24, 1947 and there was no final judgment of the Commission. Since a rehearing is in the nature of a new trial on the original issues presented by applicant's original application it then became the duty of the Commission to consider the matter in the light of such evidence introduced at the original hearing as was made a part of the record on the rehearing and such further evidence as was presented at the rehearing and then upon the basis of all of the evidence before the Commission, determine the issues presented by the original application of the applicant. This the Commission obviously refused and failed to do, but decided the matter upon the theory that since the applicant had not shown that his physical condition had changed since the Commission made the award on December 24, 1947, that award must stand and the Commission disregarded all of the evidence submitted at the rehearings except such evidence as tended to show whether or not there had been any change in his physical condition since the award made on December 24, 1947 and the Commission did not decide or attempt to decide the original issues presented by the applicant's original application in the light of the



At the close of the applicant's testimony on the rehearing counsel for the Geneva Steel Company stated to the Commission (transcript of rehearing page 21):

"Mr. Commissioner, before the Geneva Steel Company presents its case I would call the Commission's attention to the decision of the Supreme Court of Utah to the effect that when the Commission has already given an award in the case of an applicant for compensation that that cannot be changed. That they cannot change that award without some evidence of a change or new development in the injury subsequent to the date of the award.

Secondly, that if such a change of new development has been brought into evidence, then any subsequent amendment of the award would have to be from the new change or discovery and not to be retroactive."

The defendant's counsel cited 102 Utah 252 Pac.567; Carter vs Industrial Commission 76 Utah 520, 290 Pac. 776, 61 Utah 514, 215 Pac. 1047.

The Commission followed this view of the law as expressed by counsel for the defendant, Geneva Steel Company, and disregarded all of the evidence introduced at the rehearing except such evidence as indicated that there was no change in the condition of the applicant since the decision of the Commission on December 24, 1947, which evidence consisted of the sole statement of the applicant that there were no new developments during that period (transcript of rehearing page 9) and the further statement of Dr. Okelberry

Q. Doctor, as a result of performing that operation on January 19, 1948, did you find any condition in Mr. Laws' back different than your previous diagnosis?

A. No.

From these two statements, one of the appellant and the other of Dr. Okelberry, the Commission found that there had been no change in the condition of the applicant subsequent to the decision of the Commission on December 24, 1947, and completely disregarded all the rest of the testimony introduced at the rehearing which was pertinent to the real issues before the Commission for decision, to-wit: What was the real condition of the applicant at the time he filed his petition for compensation and whether further medical treatment was advisable.

The statement of the law as made to the Commission by counsel for the Geneva Steel Company and which the Commission followed was not a correct statement of the law and the Commission committed error in following this view of the law.

None of the cases cited to the Commission by counsel for the Geneva Steel Company express any such view as argued by counsel in support of his view that before the Commission could modify or change the decision of December 24, 1947, the applicant must show a change in his physical condition since the decision of December 24, 1947.

Carter vs Industrial Commission were brought under and construed section 42-1-72 U.C.A. 1943, giving the Commission continuing jurisdiction and which provides:

"The powers and jurisdiction of the Commission over each case shall be continuing and it may from time to time make such modification or change with respect to former findings, or orders with respect thereto, as in its opinion may be justified."

The foregoing provision of the Workman's Compensation Act deals with final judgments of the Commission and has no application to rehearings granted under section 42-1-76 U.C.A. 1943.

All of the cases cited to the Commission by counsel were decided under and construed section 3134 Compiled Laws of Utah 1917 (section 42-1-72 U.C.A. 1943) and none of the cases cited assume or attempt to determine the rights of the parties or the duties of the Commission under section 42-1-76 U.C.A. 1943, providing for rehearings except the case of Carter vs Industrial Commission as stated by the Court in the case of Salt Lake City vs Industrial Commission, 215 Pac. page 1047 (cited to the Commission by counsel.)

"The sole question to be determined is: When the Industrial Commission has made an award either granting or denying compensation and on rehearing the award is set aside or reversed, is the party bound to apply to this Court within thirty days for a writ of review, as provided by law or may such party at any time thereafter make application again to the Commission for compensation

the case as if the case had never been before it and previously determined. In the opinion of the writer there is but one logical view to take of the question."

In this case of Salt Lake City vs Industrial Commission, the applicant made application for compensation, a hearing was had and compensation was granted, the City requested a rehearing as provided for in section 42-1-76 U.C.A., 1943. A rehearing was granted and on the rehearing the Commission vacated this award and from this decision of the Commission the applicant did not either file a petition for a rehearing or file a petition for a writ of review, but allowed the decision of the Commission to become a final award, but after the time for appeal had expired the applicant filed a new application for compensation. When the applicant failed to either file a petition for a rehearing or a petition for a writ of review as provided by the statute, then the award of the Commission became a final judgment. All that the Court decided in this case was that when the applicant failed to apply to this Court for a writ of review within thirty days allowed by law the award of the Commission became a final award and that he could not thereafter file a new application for compensation without showing some change in his circumstances. This seems to be a reasonable statement of the law and when the Commission has made an award and that award has been

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