1949

Jakes D. Laws v. Geneva Steel Company and The Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In addition to the facts contained in the statement in plaintiff's brief, we wish to direct the court's attention to the following facts which we believe will aid the court in the determination of this controversy.

Plaintiff was first employed at Geneva on July 26, 1946, the very day of his injury. Compensation was paid for one week and wages paid for August 5, 6, 7, 12 and 13, 1946; on August 14, 1946 he was, on his request, further hospitalized and on September 3, 1946, again on his request, released. (R. 125) After an examination by the

Medical Staff of Geneva he was hospitalized in October, 1946 and the operation performed by Dr. Lindem. Release followed on November 8, 1946, in turn followed by further hospitalization and release on December 22, 1946. Geneva paid for all such medical care and hospitalization and compensation up to that time. (R. 92)

On May 23, 1947 the Medical Advisory Board made its recommendations (R. 32):

In estimating this disability we take into account that this possibly may have existed prior to his injury, but believe that he did have some injury, and also feel that there are certain pathologic changes in the spine, and also there is the appearance of a psychoneurosis of long standing. His disability is mainly subjective. We would estimate the permanent partial disability at not over 15% loss of bodily function."

And on June 2, 1947, the Commission notified plaintiff and Geneva (R. 33):

"After carefully considering the recommendations of the Medical Advisory Board, and all matters pertaining to your case, it has been determined that you have suffered a permanent disability amounting to 15% loss of bodily function."

Such was the award made on December 24, 1947, after full hearing before the Commission.

Without consulting the Commission or Geneva plaintiff on January 19, 1948 underwent a further and different operation, a spinal fusion "to correct the defect that had existed prior" to the injury of July 26, 1946. (R. 183-4.)

Plaintiff immediately filed his first petition for rehearing before the Commission, alleging:

“The hospital records and medical discoveries made during the operation (of Jan. 19, 1948) will prove to the commission conclusively that the applicant suffered a more serious injury than was the opinion of the Drs. testifying at the hearing and that the applicant has not been adequately compensated for his injuries.” (Tr. 56-7.)

This petition for rehearing was granted on ~~June~~^{January} 29, 1948. On the rehearing it was stipulated that the testimony and evidence submitted in the hearings of October 22, 1947 and December 9, 1947 would be accepted on the rehearing. (R. 169.)

After hearing, the Commission on July 12, 1948 made its decision:

“The question is whether the applicant was fully compensated by the defendants for the injury received on July 26, 1946.”

and made the following Findings:

“After hearing the testimony in the case and reviewing the same as set forth in the transcript and other documentary evidence received and made a part of the record, the Commission finds that there has been no change in the physical condition of the applicant since the award made on December 24, 1947 and therefore conclude that the award made to the applicant on December 24, 1947 was considered adequate to cover the temporary total disability suffered by the applicant as a result of his injuries received on July 26, 1946 as well as the permanent partial disability which the applicant had on December 24, 1947 as a re-

sult of such injuries.

“The Commission further concludes that the applicant has been adequately compensated for his injuries received on July 26, 1946.”

We do not admit, of course, the statements made in the brief to the effect that the Plaintiff in fact totally disabled; nor do we admit that the *undisputed* evidence was to that effect.

I.

The refusal of the Industrial Commission to render a decision on the rehearing modifying its previous decision of December 24, 1947 on the grounds that the applicant had shown no change in his physical condition since the date of the original decision of December 24, 1947 was contra to law and was error.

In this statement of error it is apparent that plaintiff misconceives the import and intent of the decision of July 12, 1948. On the rehearing held June 9, 1948 the entire record made on the previous hearings was accepted as part of the record. The Commission did not confine itself to the evidence received on the rehearing, but as stated by it, considered all the evidence, including all three hearings. Counsel frankly concedes that applicant failed to show any change in his physical condition—counsel had no alternative—applicant and his own witness testified that there had been no change.

The Commission in fact, as it was bound to do, considered the matter entirely open—a trial de novo—and upon all the evidence made its decision. Upon granting a rehearing the Commission

“ * * * may adopt the prior findings made, if in its judgment they sufficiently reflect all of the material facts as disclosed by the evidence, and make a new order or render a new judgment accordingly, whether it be the same or different effect than was the first or displaced order or judgment.”

Carter v. Industrial Commission, 76 U. 520, 290 P. 776.

The decision of July 12, 1948 quoted above was merely an adoption of the findings of the previous award. The Commission again reviewed all the evidence and the award of December 24, 1947, which was adequate when made, was still adequate and reaffirmed. The evidence presented at the rehearing revealed nothing new to the Commission of substance. That later evidence was merely cumulative and, in the proper exercise of its fact-finding power, the Commission could see no reason for making different findings. The plaintiff presented nothing to persuade the Commission that the facts were anything other than originally found. Plaintiff's argument should be addressed to the Commission, not to this court. His further evidence did not tip the balance of the weight of the evidence in his favor.

We call the court's attention to the last paragraph of the award:

“The Commission *further* concludes that the applicant *has* been adequately compensated for his injuries received on July 26, 1946.” (Italics ours.)

It may be conceded that when a rehearing is granted the Commission may correct any errors it may have

committed in the original decision. But that is not to say that it must render a different decision. The plaintiff was given an opportunity to persuade the Commission that the first award was inadequate, but he failed to do so. On disputed testimony the Commission was of the same opinion still. Dr. Okelberry testified on the first hearing (October 22, 1947) that a spinal fusion was in his opinion necessary. (R. 97) The Commission did not agree. Such operation was performed January 19, 1948 and on June 9, 1948 the same doctor testified that plaintiff would not have gotten well without the operation. (R. 178) The Commission again did not agree.

We do not understand that plaintiff claims there is any lack of evidence to support the findings of the Commission. He has brought this case here contending that the award must be set aside because based on an erroneous ground. But that is not sufficient even were it true; he must show that the decision itself is erroneous. The reasons or grounds given for its decision are no essential part of the decision: .

* * * and it is universally recognized that a correct decision will not be disturbed even though it is based on improper grounds. 3 Am. Jur. p. 367, § 825; Buringham v. Burke, 67 Utah 90, 245 Pac. 977.

Where the finding of the Commission is correct, error in its reason, if any, will not prevent affirmance of the award. 71 C.J., p. 1275, § 1251.

II.

Errors Numbers Two, Three and Four as stated by plaintiff on page 7 of this brief are:

Error Number Two

The Commission committed error in not awarding the applicant further compensation from the 26th day of December 1946 to the date of the rehearing.

Error Number Three

The Commission committed error in not awarding the appellant the medical and hospital expenses incurred incidental to the operation of January 19, 1947 (1948?)

Error Number Four

The Commission committed error in not continuing the payment of compensation to the appellant from the date of rehearing until such time as the Commission should determine in further proceedings the exact date the appellant's condition became fixed and at that time awarding to the appellant such compensation for his partial permanent loss of bodily function as he was then entitled.

Plaintiff's (applicant-appellant) position is:

1. That he should be awarded compensation as for temporary total disability up to the time of the rehearing (Error Number Two); and from the date of the rehearing "until such time as the Commission should determine in further proceedings the exact date the appellant's condition became fixed (Error Number Four).
2. That upon his condition becoming fixed an award as for permanent partial disability should be made. (Error Number Four.)
3. That he should be awarded medical and hospital

expenses incidental to the operation of January 19, 1948.
(Error Number Three.)

Since plaintiff's entire argument is based upon the false premise that he was in fact totally disabled at the time of the rehearing, we thought it proper to discuss these propositions together.

1. The Commission in making its decision of July 12, 1948 did not limit its consideration to the "evidence presented on the rehearing." That order itself recites "After hearing the testimony in the case and reviewing the same as set forth in the transcript and other documentary evidence received and made a part of the record, the Commission finds * * *." This is an express statement that the Commission considered all the evidence, not merely that offered on the rehearing. This court will of course take that statement at its face value. Furthermore, plaintiff expressly stipulated (Tr. 169):

Com. Egan: May it be stipulated that the testimony and evidence submitted in those (prior) hearings may be accepted in this hearing?

Mr. Gibson: It may.

Mr. Heald: Yes.

2. The Commission in its previous award found that plaintiff "suffered certain disabilities and therefore concludes that he is entitled to the benefits under the Compensation Act, i.e., payment for temporary total disability from the 26th day of July 1946 to the 22nd day of December 1946 * * *" and for partial permanent

on the basis of 15% loss of bodily function and the award was made accordingly. Such award was made upon conflicting evidence; is supported by substantial competent evidence and would not be disturbed by this court. The award of July 12, 1948 based on all the evidence concluded that the award of December 24, 1947 afforded plaintiff adequate compensation for temporary total disability (as well as for permanent partial) and thereby adopted the findings and conclusions of the earlier award. It may not be successfully contended that the Commission was bound to reach a different conclusion—the act of the Commission in granting a rehearing did not guarantee a greater award than that already made. The Commission granted a rehearing to afford plaintiff an opportunity to present further evidence in an attempt to persuade the Commission that it was in error. The plaintiff did not sustain the burden and the Commission was of the same opinion still.

Carter v. Industrial Commission, *supra*, 76 Utah 520, 290 Pac. 776.

3. The award as made on December 24, 1947 and as reaffirmed July 12, 1948 was based on substantial, competent although disputed, evidence and should not be disturbed by this court.

“It appears to be the contention of the plaintiff that this court will review the record to determine wherein lies the preponderance of the evidence and affirm or set aside the denial of award or judgment of the Commission accordingly. But this we are not called upon, nor are we at liberty to do. * * * We are called on, in this case, merely to determine whether there is

any substantial evidence to support that decision. Wilson v. Industrial Commission, 99 Utah 524, 108 Pac. (2) 519.

In the ordinary case it is not incumbent upon defendant to show the evidence that supports the award made by the Commission; but rather the plaintiff must show wherein the evidence does not support the award as made. However, since plaintiff in the case at bar states many times that the uncontradicted evidence is that plaintiff was in fact totally disabled, we ask the court's indulgence while we refer to some of the evidence which counsel would have this court and the Commission ignore.

A. As to temporary total disability—(the injury to the coccyx had been taken care of prior to the first hearing. R. 97)

Dr. Hatch, R. 117:

* * * *

Q. Did you find in this man any injury to the disc between the vertebra?

A. I didn't find any that I could make out.

I told him if I had a back like this and had infection in the throat and tonsils and prostate and sinuses that I would have them taken care of, and that he would be much better.

Dr. Lindem (R. 125-6)

A. After preliminary examination which occurred over a period of days, and taking a blood count and urinalysis, blood pressure and temperatures. I myself reached the conclusion that it was a controversial matter as to whether Mr. Laws

had a fractured coccyx. The presence of the spondylolisthesis and also the osteoarthritis and the presence of pyorrhea was noted. It was not in a great degree and probably because of recommendations, which were not entirely in agreement among the orthopedic men, Dr. Pemberton and Huether. It was discussed with Dr. Wright and the hospital staff. We concluded that inasmuch as Mr. Laws complained of pain in his coccyx at the time. It had been demonstrated in our findings that the complaints were entirely inconsistent, but they finally seemed to concentrate on the coccyx region. I did not agree that this had been fractured. However, Dr. Okelberry said it was fractured and Dr. Huether thought it might be fractured. I proceeded to operate the coccyx. He was making complaint out of proportion to a fractured coccyx. However, we removed it and he made recovery. I sent him to a Masseur, and Mr. Laws would not permit the masseur to do any massaging. The masseur complained that he would not let him proceed with the massage and physiotherapy that we recommended, so we stopped that manner of treatment. Then when he had him up and around he began to complain in different regions of the body. We found he was lying in bed in the morning until the doctor made the rounds, and then he would be most agile. After a period extending to the 8th of October, a period of nearly a month, we felt that with the observation and examination that we had carried on with Mr. Laws, that he was physically able as he was at the time of his pre-employment physical examination, and that he should be required to go back to work, and we so recommended and discharged him from the hospital. In my absence from the city at the time Mr. Laws quit work last December and came to my office, my associate, not knowing what to do, sent him to the

hospital again. We came to the same conclusion, that whatever disability he had at the time of the injury we had relieved and no residual from those injuries, and had put him back in a state that was comparable to his pre-employment examination. We felt he had no residual. We employed orthopedic men and had the Hospital Staff and my own associates at the office and on recommendation of the Industrial Commission he was brought up for a Medical Board hearing. We had Dr. Wright perform a complete neurological examination, which was done, and his report is in the record. I have not examined Mr. Laws since. He was discharged from St. Mark's Hospital in December. Except for observation in the room, I don't know anything about him.

The Medical Advisory Board's recommendations of May 23, 1947 (R. 32) :

"In estimating this disability we take into account that this possibly may have existed prior to his injury but believe that he did have some injury, and also feel that there are certain pathologic changes in the spine and also there is the appearance of a psychoneurosis of long standing. His disability is mainly subjective. We would estimate the permanent partial disability at not over 15% loss of bodily function."

And Dr. Stewart A. Wright, who, at the request of the Commission examined plaintiff March 27, 1947, (Tr. R. 26-8) :

"It seems to me that this patient greatly exaggerates and even invents complaints and I do not believe there is any indication for surgery at this time. I would suggest that a settlement be worked out if possible, at a disability not to exceed 5% would be reasonable."

Plaintiff seems to be of the opinion that only that evidence offered at the rehearing is to be considered.

B. As to permanent partial—the evidence recited above also supports the Commission's finding that an award based on a 15% loss of bodily function was adequate compensation. Such award was not only supported by substantial evidence, but gave the plaintiff the absolute maximum.

C. As to medical and hospital expenses:

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